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)
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___________________________________)


On March 26, 1999, we heard Employee's petition for review of the Rehabilitation Benefits Administrator (RBA) Designee's determination of ineligibility for reemployment benefits.  Attorney Michael J. Patterson represents Employee.  Attorney Tasha Porcella represents Interstate Brands Corporation, and its insurer, Lumberman's Mutual Casualty (Employer).  We held the record open two weeks to receive Employee's revised affidavit of fees and costs, as well as Employer's objections.  We closed the record on April 13, 1999, when we next met. 


ISSUES

(1.)
Under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), should we accept and consider medical evidence which was acquired subsequent to the RBA's determination? 


(2.)
Did the RBA abuse his discretion when he found Employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041?


(3.)
Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney fees and legal costs?


SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE

On May 13, 1988, Employee began working for Employer.  On July 17, 1997, Employee injured her back while moving a baking rack during business hours.  Employer accepted her claim and paid temporary total disability (TTD) benefits from July 31, 1997 through August 4, 1997, and March 16, 1998 through June 23, 1998.


Employee initially treated with W. Scott Keister, D.O.  Dr. Keister diagnosed sacroiliac and mid-thoracic strains,
 and recommended conservative treatment and physical therapy.  On August 5, 1997, Dr. Keister released Employee to regular work without restrictions.  Employee testified she failed at several attempts to return to work, between August 1997 and March 1998, due to continuing back pain.


On November 8, 1997, Employee saw Employer's independent medical examiner (EIME), Douglas Bald, M.D., orthopedic surgeon.  In his report, Dr. Bald's impression was "left lumbosacral strain, resolved . . . left mid-thoracic strain . . . right foot strain, resolved . . . [and] cervical disk disease, status post anterior cervical fusion, pre-existing."
  Dr. Bald also stated the medical care Employee received to that point had been reasonable, however, he recommended "continued medical treatment over the next 4-6 weeks, consisting of osteopathic manipulative treatments and a formal physical therapy exercise program."


On January 9, 1998, x-rays were taken of Employee's spine.  Harold J. Cable, M.D., interpreted the x-rays.  Dr. Cable's impressions included: (1) cervical spine - "satisfactory appearing well-healed fusion C5 through C7;" (2) "normal thoracic spine;" and (3) lumbar spine - "mild degenerative changes."


On April 15, 1998, Employee saw George F. Gates, M.D.  Dr. Gates' impression was "low back strain, r/o herniated nucleus polpous,"
 and he ordered an MRI of the lumbar spine.  The MRI results note "L5-S1 demonstrates a broad based centro-lateral disc protrusion slightly to the right side, measuring about 6 mm, but causing only slight compression upon the anterior thecal sac."


On April 25, 1998, Employer requested a reemployment eligibility evaluation.  On May 27, 1998, the rehabilitation specialist (RS) obtained a work history from Employee.  Thereafter, the RS mailed the appropriate job descriptions, from the Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles (SCODDOT), to Employee's attending physician for approval or disapproval.
  On June 6, 1998, Dr. Gates declined to approve or disapprove the SCODDOT job descriptions because Employee was still in active treatment with the BEAR program.


On June 13, 1998, Employee was evaluated by James Robinson, M.D., Ph.D., physiatrist, psychologist, and Bryan H. Laycoe, M.D., orthopedic surgeon, Employer's second EIME.  In their report, Drs. Robinson and Laycoe state Employee suffered thoracic and lumbar strains, was medically stable, and assessed a 10 percent permanent partial impairment rating.  The physicians also believed Employee could return to her job at the time of injury.


On July 1, 1998, the RS mailed a copy of Drs. Robinson and Laycoe's EIME Report to Dr. Gates.  On July 9, 1998, Employee was seen by Dr. Gates.  In his chart notes from that visit, Dr. Gates states:


Pt. has been very frustrated and is quite angry, angry with my office, angry with me and angry with what is going on or not [g]oing on with respect to her [b]ack. . . .  She recently had an IME performed . . . by Dr. James Robinson and Dr. Brian L[aycoe].  I would concur with their conclusions.



. . . .


I believe that she needs some assistance mentally with either a psychologist or a psychiatrist.  I have also explained that I think she needs to be in a rehabilitation program.  Therefore[,] I have recommended that we have her referred to Dr. Levine and have her entire treatment directed by Rehab Medicine Associates, who can provide all of the above services.  The patient is therefore referred to Rehab Medicine to become Se. Snell[']s primary care giver.


On July 22, 1998, the RS recommended Employee's eligibility evaluation be suspended due to Dr. Gates refusal to approve or disapprove the SCODDOT job descriptions.
  On August 4, 1998, the RBA instructed the RS to submit an addendum report as soon as it was prepared, and to provide status reports every 45-60 days.


On August 11, 1998, Employee saw Larry A. Levine, M.D., for the first time.  Following the examination and interview of Employee, Dr. Levine's diagnoses included: (1) lumbar strain; (2) possible disc protrusion contributing; (3) sleep disturbance; (4) chronic pain syndrome; (5) possible depression; (6) deconditioning; and (7) apparent symptom magnification.
  Dr. Levine placed Employee in the BEAR reconditioning program.


On October 13, 1998, attorney Michael J. Patterson filed an Entry of Appearance stating he would be Employee's counsel in this worker's compensation claim.  On October 15, 1998, Dr. Levine requested and conducted a care conference with Employer's counsel and adjustor in Employee's case.  After reviewing his August 11, 1998 initial evaluation, the June 13, 1998 EIME report, and all other medical records in Employee's file, Dr. Levine states in his report:


In reviewing my initial evaluation, it was difficult to assess her overall findings based on significant pain behavior that was quite theatrical and marked throughout.



. . . .



I reviewed also the last couple of meetings she has been getting increasingly involved with pain complaints.  She seems to be less focused on functional issues and looking for additional things that she can describe as being painful or injurious to herself while she goes through the program.



. . . .



The pain diagram is reviewed. . . .  She now has complaints of pain throughout the entire body. . . .  It is considered nonphysiologic.  Grip strength numbers are reviewed.  These are considered nonphysiologic and would be almost incompatible with activities of daily living.  Grip strengths and coefficients of variation are extremely abnormal at this point and show exceptional range with completely flat grip strength curves again considered nonphysiologic.



Based on the overall situation at this time and the fact that she was performing at a 30-pound repetitive life, I believe that the best estimate which she would be able to take part in a medium capacity.  Further recommendations beyond this level are difficult to assess based on pain behavior and nonphysiologic response.  The minimum level of lifting is 30-pound repetitive and thus, we would estimate a 50-pound medium capacity.  With this in mind, job descriptions are reviewed.  She would not be able to work as an oven loader operator based on her limited effort shown thus far, due to the 100-pound lifting capacity, but she certainly might be capable of this if she was to show reasonable effort on testing.



Job descriptions of owner daycare home at medium level as well as shipping and receiving clerk at medium level, I believe would be reasonable based on her function thus far.



I am quite concerned by the overall completely overwhelming amount of pain behavior and multitude of complaints and I believe putting some closure to this overall case in the most expedient manner would be beneficial to all parties concerned.


I would minimize the issues in reference to pain complaints since much of the overall testing showed severely abnormal pain behavior and nonphysiologic responses.  I would focus on functional issues exclusively.


She is released at medium capacity based on her limited efforts thus far and her lifting at a repetitive level of 30 pounds.  The best guess was carried out.  Will not be performing formal physical capacities evaluation testing at the time of discharge based on her overwhelming amount of pain complaints and functional overlay.


On November 12, 1998, the RS submitted her eligibility evaluation to the RBA, and the parties, recommending Employee be found not eligible for reemployment benefits.  In her report, the RS states:



In a Labor Market Survey of the Anchorage area five nursery schools were contacted.  All of the schools had hired employees within the last three months.  One current opening was located.  Ms. Snell has the qualifications to work at all of the schools contacted.  All of the businesses offer 12 months of employment.  It appears that Ms. Snell could find employment as a nursery school attendant readily.



The labor market for shipping and receiving clerks reveals a slower turnover.  Five companies were contacted with only two having hired within the last year.



. . . .



Based upon the information available for this report, this specialist recommends that Ms. Snell be determined ineligible for reemployment benefits.



Ms. Snell is precluded from performing her job duties at the time of injury as a[n] Oven Operator, Automatic/526.682-030 & Baker Helper/526.686-010 by Dr. Levine.  Ms. Snell is able to perform two of the occupations [nursery school assistant and shipping and receiving clerk] that she held during the ten years prior to the date of injury.  One of these occupations, nursery school assistant, has been found to be reasonably available in the Anchorage labor market.  The employer at the time of injury has not offered modified employment.  Ms. Snell has not been previously rehabilitated in a former worker's compensation claim.  Ms. Snell is medically stable, and a permanent impairment rating of 10% has been identified.  (Emphasis in original).


On December 7, 1998, the RBA found Employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits for the following reasons:


[x]
The evaluating rehabilitation specialist's recommendations and report received in this office on November 17, 1998.  In this report, your doctor approved your return to two jobs you held in the 10 years before your injury, shipping & receiving clerk and nursery school attendant.  According to the report, you have worked long enough to meet the specific vocational preparation level for these jobs and a labor market survey shows that these jobs are found to exist and reasonable vacancies occur for these jobs.  For these reasons, you are found not eligible for benefits.


Between October 13, 1998, when Employee's counsel filed his entry of appearance, and December 7, 1998, when the RBA determined Employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits, the Employee did not consult with any of her attending physicians regarding the RS recommendation.  At the March 26, 1999 hearing, Employee testified she saw Dr. Levine the day after the RBA's decision, on December 8, 1999.  Employee testified the appointment had been scheduled for six weeks (i.e., the end of October 1998), and was a routine follow-up appointment.  During the appointment, Employee testified she told Dr. Levine she was continuing to have pain in her hands and arms.  Dr. Levine ordered an MRI, and diagnosed very mild bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome.


Employee timely appealed the RBA's determination.  At the original appeal hearing on January 28, 1999, a different panel of the Board ordered clarification of a late-filed letter, authored by Employee's attending physician Dr. Levine on January 26, 1999, and continued the hearing to March 26, 1999.  The parties presented no arguments in support of, or in opposition to, the admission of Dr. Levine's January 26, 1999 letter.  The panel also made no findings or rulings with regard to the admissibility of Dr. Levine's January 26, 1999 letter under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A).

SUMMARY OF MEDICAL & OTHER EVIDENCE ACQUIRED SUBSEQUENT TO THE RBA's DETERMINATION

A.
Dr. Levine's January 26, 1999 "To Whom It May Concern" Letter

At the March 26, 1999 RBA appeal hearing, Employee testified she requested the January 26, 1999 letter from Dr. Levine.  Employee testified she wanted to provide the letter to prospective employers to explain her physical limitations.  In this letter, Dr. Levine states:


Please note that Seynillia Snell has been under my care for quite some time.  She has known carpal tunnel syndrome and lumbar and cervical strain which are resolving.


Physical capacities evaluation dated 10/14/98 places her at a 30-pound occasional lift, 20-pound frequent lift and 10-pound constant lift.  I think she should avoid repetitive, high forceful use of the hands due to the carpal tunnel syndrome issues.  I am not in receipt on [sic] a job analysis, but should a job as a shipping and receiving clerk cause frequent and repetitive highly stressful use of the wrists, then she should avoid this.


I do believe she is approved for work at the restrictions as outlined above at a light, medium capacity.


In his deposition, Dr. Levine testified he signed the letter because Employee said she "needed a letter . . . in that she was complaining of the wrist pain and didn't feel she could do anything where she had to do forceful repetitive grasping."
  Dr. Levine also testified Employee's carpal tunnel syndrome was very mild, almost borderline, and he did not consider it to be a significant restricting factor at that time."
  Moreover, Dr. Levine testified he did not know Employee intended to use the letter to contest any determinations that she was capable of performing either job.
  Dr. Levine testified he did not intend for his January 26, 1999 letter to revoke his prior approvals of the shipping and receiving clerk, or nursery school attendant's, positions.
  Finally, Dr. Levine testified he believed his March 10, 1999 conference notes clarified his position.

B.
Dr. Levine's January 27, 1999 Letter to the RS

On January 27, 1999, Dr. Levine wrote a letter of clarification to the RS.  The letter was filed with a medical summary on March 12, 1999.  In the letter, Dr. Levine states:


I apologize for any confusion that has been caused in relation to my assessment of the physical capacities evaluation and other issues.  The physical capacity evaluation is, as you noted, at a medium capacity with modification for shipping and receiving clerk.


I believe she is capable of 50 pounds maximum, 30 pounds occasionally, 20 pounds frequently, and 10 pounds constantly, which would meet criteria of medium level for shipping and receiving clerk.  Therefore, I have signed approval for the job description of shipping and receiving clerk as you have enclosed.


This letter was not discussed by counsel at the March 26, 1999 hearing, nor was it addressed in Dr. Levine's deposition.

C.
March 5, 1999 Medical Conference Notes

On March 5, 1999, Employee's counsel held a medical conference with Dr. Levine.  Employee filed the letter, with a medical summary, on March 16, 1999.  In his conference notes from that date, Dr. Levine states:


In reviewing the physical capacities evaluation performed, we felt that her lifting was at a 30-pound occasional, 20-pound frequent, and 10-pound constant lift.  In further review of the job descriptions, the daycare position at medium strength would not be possible, nor would the owner of the daycare of [sic] parcel post shipping and receiving.



I also pointed out that her formal physical capacities evaluation had quite a fair amount of inconsistencies and there were 9/9 criteria for an invalid study.  I believe that she can probably perform above this level.


In his deposition, Dr. Levine was questioned regarding the apparent change in position concerning Employee's physical capacities as follows:


Q:
During that [March 5, 1999] care conference, did you intend to change your mind about her physical capacities as you previously approved them?


A:
Not particularly.



. . . .


Q:
Now, when we talk about an invalid effort, does that mean that you can draw no conclusions at all from the physical capacity evaluation?


A:
No.  It meant that someone can possibly perform better than they were performing.


Q:
But it means -- it still means that they can perform at least as well as they did on the physical capacity eval?


A:
Correct.  In this case, it was at least 30 occasional, 20 frequent, and 10 constant.


Q:
Doctor, do you still believe that she can do a job which might require her to lift up to 50 pounds occasionally, 35 frequently?


A:
I believe that was the range that we had said met the on the job description previously, which is probably reasonable, since she can perform slightly above the physical capacities evaluation we gave.

D.
March 10, 1999 Medical Conference Notes

On March 10, 1999, Employer held a medical conference with Dr. Levine, and sought to have the conference notes admitted into evidence at the March 26, 1999 hearing.  In his conference notes from that date, Dr. Levine states in pertinent part:



With the carpal tunnel syndrome in mind, we would have her avoid highly repetitious, prolonged typing; forceful, repetitive gripping or grasping; and other activities that would cause undue stress to the carpal tunnel or repetitive injury about this region.  These would include use of vibratory or impact-type wrenches or tools.



I would point out that in my letter dated January 26, 1999, I reported that I was not in receipt of a job analysis, but that "should a job as shipping and receiving clerk cause frequent, repetitive, highly stressful use of the wrists, then she should avoid this."  I do not believe that work in shipping and receiving, as per the job description I recently received, nor work as a daycare owner, would be outside her abilities based on the carpal tunnel syndrome.


I do not believe the work injury dated July 17, 1997, is the cause of the carpal tunnel syndrome.

E.
Employee's Chronic Pain & Symptom Magnification

In his deposition, Dr. Levine addressed the definitions, distinctions, and the application of these medical terms with respect to Employee's condition.  Dr. Levine testified as follows:


Q:
And she had symptom magnification?


A:
Correct.


Q:
Now, isn't symptom magnification one of the elements of chronic pain syndrome?


A:
No.  Can be.


Q:
My understanding is that chronic pain syndrome is that their physical presentation is replete with exaggerated histrionic deportment.  Is that symptom magnification?


A:
That's symptom magnification, but it's not part of chronic pain all the time.  It's not a necessary element for someone to have chronic pain.


Q:
Chronic pain syndrome, is there a -- there's a distinction between chronic pain and chronic pain syndrome?


A:
They're the same thing, but chronic pain syndrome, in some ways it's a little bit of a misnomer.  It's the whole entity, and nowhere in the definition of the international association for the study of pain do you need to have symptom magnification to make the diagnosis of chronic pain.



Someone could have a back injury or a strain, have pain that lasts longer than six months and they fit the definition of chronic pain.  They don't have to have symptom magnification to make that diagnosis.


Q:
Then the follow-up is, is the symptom magnification you're talking about here, are we talking about malingering?


A:
No, not malingering.  It's unto itself.  Symptom magnification doesn't have to be part of any particular pain, whether it be acute or chronic.  Symptom magnification only implies that that person's pain behavior exceeds what you would expect for a given injury or illness.



. . . .



Chronic pain is any pain that's lasted longer than, I believe six months, with a subjective component due to a potential or real physiologic insult.



. . . .


Q:
So what does symptom magnification mean?  It just means that she perceives her disability to be more than it actually is?


A:
No.  She presents herself in ways that are more intense, more theatrical, more pain stuff, more pain focused, than I would expect someone to be for her given injury.



And you're turning a medical symptom thing into a legal thing, and I think on this one it's going to be very tough.  It's not a psychiatric diagnosis.  It's not a specific diagnosis for someone with a heart attack or myocardial infarction.  It's a descriptor to describe someone's presentation.


Counsel then asked Dr. Levine to explain his reasons for finding Employee capable of lifting or carrying 50 pounds.  Dr. Levine explained:


A:
[It] [i]s because her presentation has never matched up with what I would consider a normal presentation.  There's been so much symptom magnification and other issues, I've got to do a best guess.  Her arms aren't atrophied, her legs aren't atrophied, they work.  She feeds herself, she gets dressed, she gets undressed, she mounts and dismounts the [examination] table without any difficulty.  It's a best guess.  I'm sorry it becomes a legal issue in some ways.




. . . .




[She] can lift on the back extension at least 30 pounds.  And she did three sets of 15.  That she was doing the abdominal machine, that she lifted 80 pounds with her leg press, and all the other issues.  That was not a maximum lift.  That was not a lift that you determine what your occasional lift is.  Your typical occasional lift is about 90 percent of your maximum lift.




. . . .



It's a subjective opinion based on the fact she walks in and out of the room, that she shows symptom magnification, that I think she can do better than her best efforts.  That she was able to lift a certain amount of weight as she went through the BEAR program.  She was making some progression.  She was felt to not be doing her best effort on some of it.  And that on the date that you keep going to, October 16th, she was able to lift 30 pounds on the back extension.




If we correlate that, we could say she could lift 30 pounds in a straight leg raise, she can probably do 50 pounds with a bent knee lift.  It's the difference between doing a squat and doing a stooped lift.  And there's a huge difference.  It's not the raw numbers.  You can't go off the number in that particular thing.  You have to take that number, see how many times she did it, how many sets, and correlate it to a lifting type exercise.  The lifting you talk about is either a back alone or a knee type lift.  That extension was 30 pounds with back alone.  She probably, with a knee bent, would easily get to the 50 pounds when she did the 30 pounds, and she did three sets of 15.


SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS
A.
Employee's Arguments

Employee submitted three legal briefs, which were filed on January 21, 1999, March 17, 1999, and March 26, 1999.
  In the first brief, Employee argues the RBA abused his discretion in determining she was not eligible for reemployment benefits because:


(1)
the RBA failed to consider Employee's medical condition, including depression, frustration, and anger.


(2)
Employee should not have been considered to have held the position of nursery school attendant because she was an "owner" of a home day care;


(3)
the RBA failed to consider the legal requirements of the nursery school attendant, including, Employee's lack of current licensing, and her inability to pass a physical examination or CPR test;
 and


(4)
the labor market survey did not show that reasonable vacancies existed for shipping and receiving clerks;


In the March 17, 1999 brief, Employee argues the RBA abused his discretion because he "failed to consider the medical evidence of chronic pain.  The employee was angry, depressed, and frustrated."
  Employee also argues:



The administrator's decision that Ms. Snell was ineligible for vocational rehabilitation based on her previous job as a home daycare owner was arbitrary and manifestly unreasonable.  Ms. Snell could not return to work as a day care owner/nursery school attendant because of the chronic pain issues, her depression, and her lifting restrictions.  The RBA abused his discretion when he determined the employee could work as a nursery school attendant.  The Board should find that the December 8, 1998, January 26, 1999, and March 5, 1999, reports of Dr. Levine constitute new evidence not available to the RBA when he made his determination that Ms. Snell was ineligible based on her previous employment as a shipping/receiving clerk.  This "new evidence" proves that Ms. Snell cannot meet the physical requirements of the shipping/receiving clerk's position.  This evidence is newly discovered and could not have been considered by the RBA.  Ms. Snell should be found eligible for vocational rehabilitation.


Finally, in the late-filed March 26, 1999 brief, Employee argues that Dr. Gates and Dr. Levine, both Employee's attending physicians, diagnosed Employee with anger, depression, and chronic pain.  Based on those diagnosis, Employee argues the RS should have requested the RBA to appoint a second independent medical examiner (SIME), pursuant to AS 23.30.110(g), to diagnose the effect of Employee's chronic pain and how her physical capacity was impacted by the chronic pain.
  Employee argues the RBA abused his discretion "when he failed to refer the employee for further evaluation prior to making his determination that she was not eligible for vocational rehabilitation."
  Finally, Employee argues:


It is a violation of the equal protection clause of the Alaska Constitution when substantially different disability benefits are available to those with a limited physical capacity and those individuals with a psychological limitation.  Furthermore, the requirement of a "prediction," the express language of AS 23.30.041(e), is vague, over broad, and a denial of due process.

Employee also requested an award of attorney fees and legal costs, based on the affidavits submitted, totaling $9,041.50. 

B.
Employer's Arguments

In its initial brief, filed on January 20, 1999, Employer argues we must uphold the RBA's decision under AS 23.30.041(d).  Employer argues the RBA correctly determined the Employee did not meet the eligibility criteria, set forth in AS 23.30.041(e), because her attending physicians predicted she had the physical capacities to return to either of two jobs she previously held within the last 10 years.  In its supplemental brief, filed on March 18, 1999, Employer argues it anticipated Dr. Levine would testify at his March 24, 1999 deposition consistent with his prior reports and notes that Employee had the permanent physical capacities to return to either of two jobs she previously held within the last 10 years.


Employer also objects to Employee's reliance on "chronic pain" as a basis for alleging the RBA abused his discretion in this case.  Employer argues although the medical records are replete with references to chronic pain, Employee did not previously assert the argument in its briefs.  Employer further argues it does not go to the issue of the RBA abuse of discretion but, rather, to the issue of TTD benefits.  Employer also argues it is not appropriate to consider chronic pain with respect to Employee's eligibility under subsection .041(e) because subsection .041(q)(4) defines "physical capacities" to mean "objective and measurable physical traits such as ability to lift and carry, walk, stand or sit, push, pull, climb, balance, stoop, kneel, crouch, crawl, reach, handle, finger, feel, talk, hear, or see."


Employer filed an objection to Employee's attorney fees and legal costs on April 9, 1999.  Employer specifically objects to all fees for services performed by Employee's paralegal, in the amount of $1,716.00, because, pursuant to 8 AAC 45.180(f)(14)(D), the paralegal failed to file an itemized affidavit.  Employer also objects to an award in excess of $7,192.50 because some of the work was not reasonable and necessary, was not performed, was an excessive charge for the work performed due to duplication of work by the paralegal and attorney, and clerical work was performed by the paralegal contrary to 8 AAC 45.180(f)(14)(C).


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.
UNDER 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), SHOULD WE ACCEPT AND CONSIDER MEDICAL EVIDENCE WHICH WAS ACQUIRED SUBSEQUENT TO THE RBA'S DETERMINATION? 


Alaska Statute 23.30.041(d) provides in pertinent part:



Within 14 days after receipt of the report from the rehabilitation specialist, the administrator shall notify the parties of the employee's eligibility for reemployment preparation benefits.  Within 10 days after the decision, either party may seek review of the decision by requesting a hearing under AS 23.23.110. The hearing shall be held within 30 days after it is requested.  The board shall uphold the decision of the administrator except for abuse of discretion on the administrator's part.  (Emphasis added).


Our regulation, 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), provides in pertinent part:


In reviewing the administrator's decision, the board may not consider evidence that was not available to the administrator at the time of administrator's decision unless the board determines the evidence is newly discovered and could not with due diligence have been produced for the administrator's consideration.  (Emphasis added).


At the March 26, 1999 hearing, we sustained Employer's objection to Employee presenting any new evidence regarding chronic pain.  However, we allowed Employee to make any chronic pain argument she desired so long as it was based on the evidence contained in the file at the time of the RBA's determination.  Furthermore, we ruled that Dr. Levine's January 26 and 27, 1999 letters, March 5 and 10, 1999 conference notes, and March 24, 1999 deposition, were coming in, per the prior panel's instruction at the January 28, 1999 hearing, in order to clarify Dr. Levine's medical opinion in the January 26, 1999 letter, and to determine whether the medical evidence was admissible under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A).


Having heard the parties' arguments, and reviewing all of the subsequently obtained medical evidence, we find Dr. Levine's January 26 and 27, 1999 letters, March 5 and 10, 1999 conference notes, and March 24, 1999 deposition, are not admissible under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A).  We make this finding for the following reasons.


First, we find although Employee's counsel repeatedly and summarily argued the subsequently acquired medical records were "newly discovered" evidence which could not, with "due diligence," have been produced for the RBA's consideration, he wholly failed to present even one fact in support of his argument.  We find Employee's counsel filed an entry of appearance in this matter on October 13, 1998.  We find Employee's counsel was aware that there was a pending eligibility evaluation being conducted by the RS in Employee's case.


We find Employee's counsel had 29 days from the date he entered his appearance, until the date the RS filed her eligibility evaluation, to schedule consultations with Employee's attending physicians, or to seek other medical opinions regarding Employee's physical capacities and the impact of her chronic pain, anger and depression.  We find Employee's counsel had 25 days from the date the RS submitted her eligibility report until the RBA issued his determination, to schedule consultations with Employee's attending physicians, or to seek other medical opinions regarding Employee's physical capacities and the impact of her chronic pain, anger and depression, for the RBA's consideration.  We find Employee's counsel did not consult with Employee's attending physicians, nor seek other medical opinions regarding Employee's physical capacities, prior to the RS eligibility report and recommendation of ineligibility on November 12, 1998, or the RBA's determination on December 7, 1998.


We further find Employee and her counsel both knew she had an appointment scheduled with Dr. Levine for December 8, 1999, one day after the RBA's determination.  We find, based on Employee's testimony, she and her counsel knew of this appointment for six weeks, or since the end of October 1998.  We find Employee and her counsel failed to exercise due diligence because they had more than ample time, i.e., 55 days, to procure the subsequently acquired medical evidence prior to the RBA's determination.  We therefore conclude the subsequently acquired medical evidence is not admissible under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A) because it is not newly discovered evidence which could not, with due diligence, have been produced for the RBA's consideration.


Assuming, arguendo, it meets the requirements of 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), we find it does not provide any new information, or change any prior medical opinions, which were before the RBA when he made his determination of eligibility in this case.  We make this finding for the following reasons.


We find Dr. Levine testified at his deposition, where he underwent extensive direct- and cross-examination by counsel, that he did not intend to revoke his prior approvals of the shipping/receiving clerk or the nursery school attendant's positions.
  We find Dr. Levine also believed his March 10, 1999 conference notes clarified his position regarding Employee's physical capacities.
  We find Dr. Levine repeatedly, although not always clearly, opined Employee's physical capacities met or exceeded the physical demands of either the shipping/receiving clerk or nursery school attendant positions, regardless of her chronic pain, anger, depression, or carpal tunnel syndrome issues.
  We therefore conclude the subsequently acquired medical evidence does not present any new or different medical opinions regarding Employee's physical capacities which were not before the RBA at the time of his decision.

II.
DID THE RBA ABUSE HIS DISCRETION WHEN HE FOUND EMPLOYEE WAS NOT ELIGIBLE FOR REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS UNDER AS 23.30.041?


Alaska Statute 23.30.041 provides in pertinent part:


(e)
An employee shall be eligible for benefits under this section upon the employee's written request and by having a physician predict that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of the employee's job as described in the United States Department of Labor's "Selected Characteristic of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles" for



(1)  the employee's job at the time of injury; or



(2)  other jobs that exist in the labor market that the employee has held or received training for within 10 years before the injury or that the employee has held following the injury. . . .  (Emphasis added).



. . . .


(q)(4)
"physical capacities" means objective and measurable physical traits such as ability to lift and carry, walk, stand or sit, push, pull, climb, balance, stoop, kneel, crouch, crawl, reach, handle, finger, feel, talk, hear, or see[.]


The issue before us is whether the RBA abused his discretion in this case.  In Sheehan v. University of Alaska,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated, "This court has explained abuse of discretion as `issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capri​cious, manifestly unreasonable, or stems from an improper motive.' [Footnote omitted] Tobeluk v. Lind, 589 P.2d 873, 878 (Alaska 1979)."  The Supreme Court has also stated that abuse of discretion exists only when the court is "left with the definite and firm conviction on the whole record that the trial judge has made a mistake."
  We have adopted these standards in our review of the RBA's decis​ions.
  We have also held that misapplication of the law is an abuse of discretion.


In Kirby v. Alaska Treatment Ctr.,
 the Supreme Court held the presumption of compensability in AS 23.30.120(a) applies to claims for vocational rehabilitation.  In Yahara v. Const. & Rigging, Inc.,
 the Supreme Court held we properly refused to reweigh the evidence in reviewing an RBA determination.  The court ruled the RBA could choose which physician's opinion on which to rely upon when making an eligibility deter​mination.  

A.
The RBA's failure to order an SIME based on Employee's chronic pain, anger and depression

In this case, unlike Yahara, there is no dispute between physicians about Employee's physical capacities.  It is undisputed that Employee has the physical capacities to work as either a shipping/receiving clerk or nursery school attendant.  Employee asserts, however, that her chronic pain, and psychological conditions of anger and depression prevent her from working in either position.


In Burner v. Enstar Natural Gas Co.,
 and Cullen v. Rotor Air Alaska, Inc.,
 the Board addressed similar issues, and held:


That psychological conditions may be disabling is undoubtedly true.  However, AS 23.30.041(e) conditions eligibility for reemployment benefits on permanent diminution of physical capacities.  Moreover, in AS 23.30.041(p)(4) the legislature set forth a comprehensive definition of physical capacities describing "objective and measurable physical traits."  We find the employee, who has unimpaired physical capacities restricted only by a psychological phobia limiting the environment in which those physical capacities may be freely exercised, does not have physical capacities less than the physical demands of his job at time of injury or previous jobs held within 10 years of the injury date.  We conclude the Administrator abused his discretion when he found the employee eligible under AS 23.30.041(e) despite the absence of permanent physical capacities less than the physical demands of the employee's job.  


In Binder v. Historical Preservation Foundation,
 the Supreme Court held:  "[T]his court will neither modify nor extend a statute if its language is unambiguous and expresses the legislature's intent, and if its legislative history reveals no ambiguity."  (citations omitted).  In Moesh v. Anchorage Sand & Gravel,
 the Supreme Court stated that statutes must be applied as written, even if it results in a harsh outcome.  We have held we should generally "defer to the RBA's expertise when construing regulations adopted by the board to implement the reemployment benefits program which he administers."
 


Unfortunately, we find no authority upon which to rely to depart from our holding in Burner or Cullen.  We find AS 23.30.041(e) is clear and unambiguous requiring the physical capacities to be less than the physical demands of the employee's job at time of injury.  Only physical capacities are to be considered by the RBA when determining eligibility for reemployment benefits.  


We find, based on a review of the entire medical record, Employee has the physical capacities to perform the job of either shipping/receiving clerk or nursery school attendant, two jobs she has held within the last 10 years.  We find Employee's psychological condition, i.e., chronic pain, anger, and depression, may prevent her return to work in either of these positions.  Nonetheless, Moesh dictates we must follow our statutes as written, regardless of the harsh result which may occur.  Accordingly, we must conclude the RBA did not abuse his discretion in finding the employee not eligible for reemployment benefits.  


Moreover, we find the RBA has no authority, under AS 23.30.095(k)
 or AS 23.30.110(g),
 to order an SIME.  We also find the RBA had no basis, for the reasons articulated previously, to request or recommend to the board that an SIME be performed.  We therefore conclude the RBA did not abuse his discretion by failing to order or request an SIME.

C.
Employee was a daycare "owner," not a nursery school attendant

Employee argues the RBA abused his discretion when he determined she was not eligible for reemployment benefits because her physician and the EIMEs released her to work as a nursery school attendant.  Employee argues she owned her own in-home daycare business and was never a nursery school attendant.  We find Employee's argument is a distinction without a difference.


In this case, the RS utilized the SCODDOT job description "Nursery School Attendant DOT Code: 359.677-018" as analogous to a privately owned in-home daycare business.  We find the SCODDOT description states:


Organizes and leads activities of prekindergarten children in nursery schools or in playrooms operated for patrons of theaters, department stores, hotels, and similar organizations.  Helps children remove outer garments.  Organizes and participates in games, reads to children, and teaches them simple painting, drawing, handwork, songs, and similar activities.  Directs children in eating, resting, and toileting.  Helps children develop habits of caring for own clothing and picking up and putting away toys and books.  Maintains discipline.  May serve meals and refreshments to children and regulate rest periods.  May assist in preparing food and cleaning quarters.


Neither Employee, nor Employee's counsel, presented any evidence with respect to divergent tasks and responsibilities as between an owner of an in-home daycare business and a nursery school attendant.  We are neither inclined, nor obligated, to make a leap of faith that there is in fact a distinction between the two jobs.  We find the SCODDOT job description for nursery school attendant is analogous to the tasks for an in-home daycare business owner.  We therefore conclude the RBA did not abuse his discretion when he found Employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits because she had been released to the job of nursery school attendant.    


Employee also argues because she did not possess a current daycare license, CPR test, or physical examination, she was not qualified for a nursery school attendant position, and the RBA abused his discretion when he failed to consider these factors.  We have previously held that eligibility under AS 23.30.041(e) must be based on an employee's physical capacities, and not on any legal impediments facing the employee.
  We find, based on Employee's testimony, her daycare license was revoked by the State of Alaska after multiple complaints had been filed against her.  We further find there was no evidence in the medical records that Employee would not be able to pass a CPR test or basic physical examination. We conclude the RBA did not abuse his discretion. 

D.
The labor market survey did not establish there were 

In her November 12, 1998 eligibility report, the RS stated, "Ms. Snell is able to perform two of the occupations that she held during the ten years prior to the date of injury.  One of these occupations, nursery school assistant, has been found to be reasonably available in the Anchorage labor market."  Employee argues the RBA abused his discretion when he determined the labor market survey established that reasonable vacancies existed for shipping/receiving clerks, and was therefore not entitled to reemployment benefits.


We find the RBA, in his December 7, 1998 determination, stated:


In this report, your doctor approved your return to two jobs you held in the 10 years before your injury, shipping & receiving clerk and nursery school attendant.  According to the report, you have worked long enough to meet the specific vocational preparation level for these jobs and a labor market survey shows that these jobs are found to exist and reasonable vacancies occur for these jobs.  For these reasons, you are found not eligible for benefits. 


We find the RBA erred.  However, we find although technically an abuse of discretion, the RBA's decision that the labor market survey shows reasonable vacancies exist for the shipping/receiving clerk is harmless error.  We make this finding because the result is still the same -- Employee is not entitled to reemployment benefits because she has the physical capacities for, and was released to, the position of nursery school attendant.  We find, under AS 23.30.041(e), if an employee has the physical capacities to return to either the job at the time of injury, or a job that the employee held within the last 10 years, the employee is not entitled to reemployment benefits.  Therefore, we conclude Employee is not entitled to reemployment benefits because she has the physical capacities to return to work as a nursery school attendant.


Although we find Employee is not entitled to reemployment benefits under the Act, we wish to encourage her to seek reemployment training through other agencies.  We find Employee is a very intelligent, motivated, and responsible single parent, and that she would appear to have a high likelihood of succeeding in a retraining program.  To that end, we suggest Employee contact the following organizations for information: (1) Division of Vocational Rehabilitation; (2) Alaska Women's Resources; and (3) Veteran's Administration (if Employee has any entitlement to veteran's benefits).

III.
IS EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES AND LEGAL COSTS?


Employee requested an award of actual attorney fees and legal costs in his claim.  Alaska Statute 23.30.145(b) provides:



If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.  (Emphasis added).


Our regulation, 8 AAC 45.180(f), governs the award of legal costs and provides, in pertinent part, as follows:


The board will award the applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim.  The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim.  (Emphasis added).


We find Employee was not successful in the prosecution of her RBA appeal.  Therefore, under AS 23.30.145(b) and 8 AAC 45.180(f), we deny Employee's request for an award of actual attorney fees and costs.


ORDER

(1.)
Employee's petition is denied and dismissed.


(2.)
Employee's request for attorney fees and legal costs is denied and dismissed.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this _________________ day of _________________, 1999.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.


Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.


RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.


MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of SEYNILLIA SNELL, employee / petitioner; v. INTERSTATE BRANDS CORP., employer; and LUMBERMAN'S MUTUAL CASUALTY, insurer / respondents; Case No. 9715980; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this _____________ day of _________________, 1999.

                             _________________________________

                             Sierra McKeever, Clerk

�








     �Dr. Keister's Report (July 28, 1997).


     �Dr. Bald's EIME Report at 5 (November 8, 1997).


     �Id. at 6.


     �Dr. Cable's Report (January 12, 1998).


     �Dr. Gates' Chart Notes (April 15, 1998).


     �MRI Report (April 22, 1998).


     �The job descriptions included: (1) Shipping & Receiving Clerk/222.387-050, classified as "medium," requiring lifting 50 pounds maximum, with frequent lifting/carrying up to 25 pounds; (2) Owner, Day Care Home (Nursery School Attendant)/359.677-018, classified as "medium," requiring lifting 50 pounds maximum, with frequent lifting/carrying up to 25 pounds; and (3) Oven/Loader-Operator, Automatic/526.682-030 and Baker Helper/526.686-010, classified as "heavy," requiring lifting 100 pounds maximum, with frequent lifting/carrying up to 50 pounds.


     �EIME Report at 7-9 (June 13, 1998).


     �Dr. Gates' Chart Notes (July 9, 1998).


     �Eligibility Report at 5 (July 22, 1998).


     �RBA letter to RS (August 4, 1998).


     �Dr. Levine's Report at 3-4 (August 11, 1998).


     �Dr. Levine's Depo. at 9 (March 24, 1999).


     �Id. at 10.


     �Id. at 11.


     �Id.


     �Id.


     �Dr. Levine's Depo. at 13-14.


     �Dr. Levine's Depo. at 25-27.


     �Dr. Levine's Depo. at 40-43.


     �At the January 28, 1999 telephonic prehearing, the parties were instructed to file their witness lists and legal briefs by March 18, 1999.


     �Employee's Brief at 11 (January 21, 1999).


     �Id. at 10.


     �Id. at 11.


     �Id. at 10.


     �Employee's Brief at 5 (March 17, 1999)(citing Dr. Gates' record, July 9, 1998).


     �Id. at 6-7.


     �Employee's Brief at 2 (March 26, 1999).


     �Id. at 2-3.


     �Id. 


     �Dr. Levine's Depo. at 11.


     �Id.


     �See Dr. Levine's Report (October 15, 1998); Dr. Levine's letter to the RS (January 27, 1999); Dr. Levine's conference notes (March 10, 1999); and Dr. Levine's Depo.


     �700 P.2d 1295, 1297 (Alaska 1985).


     �Brown v. State, 563 P.2d 275, 279 (Alaska 1977).


     �Sullivan v. Gudenau and Co., AWCB Decision No. 89-0153 (June 16, 1989); Garrett v. Halliburton Services, AWCB Decision No. 89-0013 (January 20, 1989).


     �Binder v. Fairbanks Historical Preservation Foundation, AWCB Decision No. 91-0392 (December 11, 1991).


     �821 P.2d 127, 129 (Alaska 1991).


     �851 P.2d 69 (Alaska 1993).


     �AWCB Decision No. 89-0168 (July 6, 1989)(aff'd, Burner v. Enstar Natural Gas Co., 3AN-89-6532 Civil (Alaska Super. Ct., February 26, 1991)).


     �AWCB Decision No. 96-0267 (June 28, 1996).


     �880 P.2d 117, 122 (Alaska 1994).


     �877 P.2d 763, 765 (Alaska 1994).


     �Winterton v. Advanced Signs & Stripping, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 96-0456 (December 2, 1996); Gallagher v. Cimmaron Holdings, AWCB Decision No. 92-0241 (September 30, 1992).


     �AS 23.30.095(k) provides in part, "In the event of a medical dispute . . . between the employee's physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted. . . ." (Emphasis added).


     �AS 23.30.110(g) provides in part, "An injured employee . . . shall submit to the physical examination by a duly qualified physician which the board may require."  (Emphasis added).


     �Ward v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 91-   (March 26, 1991)(citing Clifton v. Western Geophysical, AWCB Decision No. 90-0097 (May 4, 1990).





